



Space for Sustainability Award



Containing Wildfires with Satellites

Abstract: Forest fires are causing great impact on the environment, destroying thousands of hectares of forests, threatening wildlife species, human communities and causing vast economic losses. Nowadays, countries are facing emerging issues related to the increase of wildfire occurrences, most of which are human-induced. This project intents to aid in fire combat, by creating an application which, on a first stage, will be able to show the fire's near real-time evolution based on SAR satellite imagery, while presenting, on a second stage, the fire's progression forecast. Consequently, we purpose a new tool to improve present solutions, helping active fire combat units.

Containing Wildfires with Satellites

Pedro Neves & Maria Inês Vaz

Instituto Superior Técnico Universidade de Lisboa

June 2020

Abstract

Forest fires are causing great impact on the environment, destroying thousands of hectares of forests, threatening wildlife species, human communities and causing vast economic losses. Nowadays, countries are facing emerging issues related to the increase of wildfire occurrences, most of which are human-induced. This project intents to aid in fire combat, by creating an application which, on a first stage, will be able to show the fire's near real-time evolution based on SAR satellite imagery, while presenting, on a second stage, the fire's progression forecast. Consequently, we purpose a new tool to improve present solutions, helping active fire combat units.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
	1.1 Background and overview of the problem	. 2
	1.2 Health risks and benefits for nature	. 2
	1.3 Relationship with climate change	. 3
2	The Project Idea	3
	2.1 Methodology \ldots	. 3
	2.2 Integration with other programs	. 3
	2.3 SAR satellites for fire detection	. 5
	2.4 Predicting wildfire progression	. 6
	2.4.1 Relevance of vegetation, topography and SMA	. 7
	2.4.2 Importance of wind	. 7
3	Feasibility	7
4	Conclusion	8
Re	eferences	8

1 Introduction

1.1 Background and overview of the problem

Wildfires are a main cause of environmental, social and economical problems, destroying millions of hectares of forests and causing loss of biodiversity and human lives.

They contribute severely to the destruction of wildlife habitats and to an increase in the levels of CO_2 , all around the globe. Apart from the environmental consequences, they pose a threat to millions of people, whose lives and houses are put at risk every year. In the European Union alone, between 2000 and 2017, 611 people lost their lives directly because of a wildfire and 8.5 millions of hectares have burnt [6]. Globally, between 1998 and 2017, around 2400 people died, according to a UNISDR report, and 6.2 million people were injured or displaced from home, for example [28]. In Figure 1, we present a graph showing the total amount of burnt area in the European Union between 1998 and 2013, which added up to the amount of about 6.8 million hectares [14].



Figure 1: Total burnt area in the EU between 1998 and 2013 [14]

It is important to state that, nowadays, 96% of forest fires in Europe are human-induced, according to the European Forest Fire Information System (EFFIS), a component of the EU Copernicus programme [25]. In a WWF study released in late 2016, the author presents a similar number: 95% worldwide [20]. These studies indicate that currently, only 4-5% of forest fires are natural occurrences.

Moreover, global efforts to combat wildfires and minimise its side-effects carry a significant cost of economic funds. According to a report elaborated by the European Comission, between 2000 and 2017, in the EU, the total amount of economic losses exceeded \in 54 billion (approximately, \in 3 billion each year) and this value is expected to increase in the next years [6].

1.2 Health risks and benefits for nature

Additionally, wildfires also constitute a health risk for populations, due to the emission of smoke, which is constituted by gases and fine particles. Studies addressing short-term effects

of smoke exposure have concluded that these particles worsen chronic heart and lung diseases, which can lead to premature death. Other less severe consequences include eye and respiratory tract irritations. This is an important issue due to the increasing number of wildfires in recent years [27, 7, 23].

Nonetheless, wildfires have benefits too and it is important to state that they have always been a naturally occurring phenomenon. By burning down vegetation and dead organic matter, they increase the nutrients available in the soil, which is an important advantage to a large amount of plant and animal species. For example, by eliminating weaker trees, stronger and younger ones have more space and nutrients to grow and develop, contributing to a process of forest regeneration [22]. However, due to the substantial number of total wildfires all around the globe, their consequences outweigh their benefits.

1.3 Relationship with climate change

This increase in wildfires is partially attributed to climate change. Variations in temperature, humidity and other environmental factors are turning European land drier, by decreasing the fuel moisture levels of soil and organic matter. Therefore, fire seasons are becoming progressively longer and more intense. Although it is believed that the Mediterranean region will be the first to suffer the consequences in the upcoming years, the areas with low fuel moisture levels will expand progressively towards Northern Europe, making most of Europe more susceptible to a large amount of intense wildfires [4, 10, 23, 24].

2 The Project Idea

2.1 Methodology

The development of our project idea comprises two stages.

Our project idea is to develop an application in which the estimated progression of a wildfire is easily visible and understood, by displaying the area affected on a map.

In order to track the progression of a wildfire, it is first necessary to detect its existence, in an early phase. Furthermore, it is fundamental to have real-time observation of the fire's progression. We aim to do this based on data collected by SAR satellites. This will consist on the first stage of our application (subsection 2.3).

On a second stage, the application will provide the most likely evolution of a wildfire, by showing a map which indicates its probable progression (subsection 2.4).

Due to the vast consequences of forest fires, this project encompasses UN Sustainable Development Goals 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 9, 12, 13 and 15.

2.2 Integration with other programs

Nowadays, there are several governmental programmes worldwide which are focused on wildfires. For example, EFFIS has multiple applications concerning wildfires. The system gathers vital near real-time data, relating to fire danger, active fire detection, and fire damage assessment, therefore targeting three crucial points for minimising the risks and consequences of these occurrences. Annual fire reports and other publications can also be accessed on the EFFIS website [12, 13].

To support prevention, EFFIS uses satellite imagery and meteorological data to establish weather maps and forecast possible wildfires [25]. Even though we consider that preventive measures and the development of weather forecast maps are important, we do not believe it is enough, especially because the vast majority of wildfires is human-induced, as we stated in section 1. For this reason, our focus will be on the fire detection and tracking platforms it presents.

Ever since the programme began, the systems used for fire detection and monitoring have undergone various modifications in order to achieve more accurate results. Currently, active fire detection by EFFIS is based on the NASA FIRMS (Fire Information for Resource Management System) [13]. The data is collected from the MODIS and VIIRS satellite-based sensors, which look for thermal anomalies. These technologies rely on the emission of mid-infrared light from the blaze, displaying the active fire as a pixel on a global map, which is presented on the FIRMS online platform [1]. An example of an image seen on the NASA FIRMS online platform can be found on Figure 2.



Figure 2: FIRMS online platform displaying active fires on June 28th 2020 [15].

Even though this application allows us to monitor wildfires worldwide, it still lacks accuracy and is affected by weather conditions. Under multiple circumstances, the satellite-based sensors mentioned above are subject to failure. The presence of cloud or smoke over the area under surveillance is one of the primary difficulties in detecting or monitoring an active wild-fire through satellite imagery. Moreover, technical difficulties may also result in missing data [1].

On a practical level, the platform exhibits numerous limitations, as the actual fire may be smaller than the pixel displayed, or there may be more than one active fire corresponding to the same pixel. The system is also unable to distinguish between different types of thermal anomalies based only on information gathered by MODIS and VIIRS, just as some fires are not detected nor shown on the map [1].

In addition to this, the information is only updated a few times a day, and therefore cannot be used for rigorous fire tracking. Consequently, following the fire's progression using this platform is still insufficient [13, 1].

2.3 SAR satellites for fire detection

The possibility of using SAR (Synthetic Aperture Radars) to solve the problems stated above is emerging. These satellites emit their own light and therefore do not rely on external sources, such as sunlight, to obtain visual data. Furthermore, they operate on wavelengths which are able to penetrate through clouds, making data acquisition possible under any atmospheric conditions. SAR systems obtain data by emitting microwave radiation, which is not affected by atmospheric phenomenons. After it reaches the surface, the radiation is then reflected back to the original source, a phenomenon called backscatter, which is explored in SAR satellites in order to obtain data [8]. Their ability to generate high resolution images is yet another factor which underlines its determinant role in Earth observation [18, 3].

The Sentinel-1 constellation, part of the ESA Copernicus programme, includes two polarorbiting satellites, Sentinel-1A and Sentinel-1B [18]. These are an example of SAR satellites which have produced consistent results in fire tracking, as demonstrated in multiple studies [3, 15].

A successful case was observed in Australia, where a research team was able to determine the evolution of wildfires with great accuracy, demonstrating the system's reliability for producing change maps of the occurrences. In comparison to the NASA FIRMS, the Sentinel-1 series present the advantage of allowing the fire's progress determination independently of weather circumstances. The change map produced between 18 and 30 November 2019 is represented in Figure 3 [15].



Figure 3: Change of Copernicus Sentinel-1 ESVI between 18 and 30 November 2019. The values are Enhanced SAR Vegetation Index (ESVI) units. This map allows for the detection of the burnt area. No change is represented in white, whereas blue to purple signifies a reduction and yellow to red an increase of ESVI values [15].

According to another study, based on Sentinel-1 data from three different fire occurrences, two in Canada and one in the USA, the system was able to detect and follow the wildfire's progressions by processing backscatter variations through time. Combined with deep learning models, the researchers were able to accurately distinguish burnt areas from the surroundings, demonstrating the relevance of SAR systems for future near real-time fire detection and tracking applications [3].

As a result, following the progress of wildfires is not only possible, but also brings the advantages cited above. However, the information provided by Sentinel-1 is only available for use at much lower frequencies than desirable, as these satellites present a revisit period of 6 days in Europe, which means that it takes 6 days to obtain observations from exactly the same spot, and data access implies previously requesting the necessary information. For other parts of the world, data may only be accessed on a 12 day period. Nonetheless, it could initially serve as a model for studying how to detect and follow a fire through data obtained from SAR satellites [17].

Aside from the Sentinel-1 mission, other SAR satellites have been launched in recent years, which make way for new possibilities, such as the usage of data collected by these systems to provide near real-time fire tracking and detection technologies. The RADARSAT Constellation, as well as the Capella X-SAR Constellation, have lower revisit periods, making it possible to access new information within daily and hourly intervals, respectively [3, 5, 11].

We consider relying on SAR satellite data to be a key step in monitoring wildfire progression across Europe. By developing an application which relies on data obtained from SAR satellites in order to detect and observe a wildfire's progression, we aim to achieve an improved method which will allow firefighting entities to accompany the situation with greater precision and under any atmospheric conditions. The launch of both the RADARSAT Constellation and the Capella X-SAR Constellation, bringing significant improvement on data availability frequency, will be crucial for the development of this project, serving a global purpose [5, 11].

2.4 Predicting wildfire progression

Following the previous stage (subsection 2.3) is the development of a fire modelling system, capable of generating the most probable burning route. Due to its complexity, prediction of fire progression would necessarily comprise a second stage of this project. Yet, the beneficial outcomes make it a decisive step in order to tackle the problem.

For firefighters on the front line, being able to anticipate the probable evolution of a wildfire may be vital, enabling the teams to adopt strategic positions, preventing millions of hectares from burning. On another side, it would also warn authorities of important places to evacuate, such as villages.

Therefore, there is a need to combine a wide range of data from multiple sources and use them as input to a sophisticated algorithm, such as: types of vegetation on the area, fuel moisture content, topography, wind speed, direction and specific wind phenomenons and other meteorological factors [2].

To further extend the application's capacity, an interesting option would be to combine this data with information regarding protected and populated areas, such as natural reserves and villages, warning firefighters of the risk of the flames reaching a certain location. This could consist of a third step to this project, in order to make information even more explicit for firefighters.

2.4.1 Relevance of vegetation, topography and SMA

In a study published in 2018, scientists investigated the importance of vegetation, topography and surface moisture availability (SMA) prior to a fire [19]. Applying boosted regression tree (BRT) modelling to data from Eurasian boreal forests, they concluded that these three environmental factors were responsible for more than 70% of variations in fire severity. Another finding was that the most severe fires occur on well-drained slopes at high altitudes, showing the influence of topography.

Consequently, it is important to obtain accurate data regarding these factors.

With the Sentinel-2 satellites from ESA, it is possible to obtain vegetation data, such as the Leaf Area Index (LAI) and the Normalised Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI), both of which can be important to track the progression of a wildfire, depending on the construction of the algorithm [9, 21]. It is also already possible to measure soil moisture from space, using Sentinel-1 [26]. These are examples of vegetation information which can be obtained from satellites and be further combined with other ground-based data (e.g. species of vegetation which are known to be present at certain locations).

Using other SAR satellites, as it was explained in subsection 2.3, near real-time information could be obtained regarding these factors, in the near future (e.g. Capella X-SAR Constellation is predicted to have all their 36 microsatellites launched in 2021, including the 6 already launched).

2.4.2 Importance of wind

Wind is of upmost relevance to predict the progression of flames in a wildfire.

By using Aeolus data, a satellite launched by ESA in 2018, we would be able to have significant near real-time measures of wind globally, which could be incorporated in the algorithm to predict the pathway of a wildfire [16].

This data could be further combined with ground-based meteorological stations, for example, depending on the location and circumstances.

3 Feasibility

The evaluation of the project's feasibility by means of a SWOT analysis is presented in Figure 4.

As mentioned in previous sections, acquiring SAR satellite data for fire detection and tracking is possible under any atmospheric conditions, allowing us to obtain accurate results, after improving the observation models using available data. However, observing the fire's evolution at hourly intervals is only conceivable with the launch of the remaining Capella X-SAR satellites.

Estimating the wildfire's expansion route would also be possible by combining multiple data sources and training a model to forecast the fire's progression, at last presenting a useful and easy to interpret visual map.

Yet, this project's development time, along with the high computational power necessary for the implementation of such algorithms and technical issues which sometimes affect satellite



Figure 4: SWOT analysis of our project idea assessing the overall feasibility

data acquisition constitute the major obstacles for this project. Therefore, it is mandatory to divide its implementation in stages, creating successive versions of our application.

Nonetheless, we consider this idea to be viable, within the referred constraints. By combining currently available ground-based and satellite-based information with satellite data attainable in the near future, this system will be able to estimate the pathway of a wildfire, allowing us to save hundreds of lives, millions of hectares and megatomes of CO_2 .

4 Conclusion

Wildfires cause irreparable damage to fauna and flora communities, representing a health hazard and endangering human lives, while resulting in enormous economic prejudice for the affected regions. The increasing number of such events is a worrying tendency, which requires adequate measures.

Consequently, this idea's purpose is to aid in wildfire combat, providing firefighters with an application that allows for near real-time fire monitoring and also displays the fire's probable evolution route on a map.

Overall, we believe this project will represent an improvement on the resources available for fighting active wildfires, aiding firefighters on the field and local authorities.

References

- [1] Aeronautics, National and Administration, Space. *FIRMS FAQ*. 2020. URL: https://earthdata.nasa.gov/faq/firms-faq (visited on 06/22/2020).
- [2] Andrews, P., Finney, M., and Fischetti, M. "Predicting Wildfires". In: Scientific American, Aug. 2007, pp. 47-55. URL: https://www.fs.fed.us/rm/pubs_other/rmrs_2007_ andrews_p001.pdf.

- Ban, Y., Zhang, P., et al. "Near Real-Time Wildfire progression Monitoring with Sentinel-1 SAR Time Series and Deep Learning". In: Scientific Reports 10.1322 (2020). DOI: 10. 1038/s41598-019-56967-x. URL: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-019-56967-x.
- [4] Borunda, A. Are Europe's Historic Fires Caused By Climate Change? 2018. URL: https: //www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/2018/07/are-fires-in-europe-theresult-of-climate-change-/ (visited on 06/19/2020).
- [5] Canadian Space Agency. Frequently Asked Questions RADARSAT Constellation Mission (RCM). 2019. URL: https://www.asc-csa.gc.ca/eng/satellites/radarsat/faq.asp (visited on 06/21/2020).
- [6] Castro Rego, F.M.C., Rodríguez, J.M.M., and Vallejo Calzada, V.R. Forest Fires: Sparking firesmart policies in the EU. Nov. 2018. ISBN: 978-92-79-77493-5. DOI: 10.2777/181450.
- [7] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Protect Yourself from Wildfire Smoke. 2019.
 URL: https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/features/wildfires/index.html (visited on 06/19/2020).
- [8] Chuvieco, E., Mouillot, F., et al. "Historical background and current developments for mapping burned area from satellite Earth observation". In: *Remote Sensing of Environment* 225 (2019), pp. 45–64. ISSN: 0034-4257. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rse.2019.02.013. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0034425719300689.
- Cohrs, C.W., Cook, R.L., et al. "Sentinel-2 Leaf Area Index Estimation for Pine Plantations in the Southeastern United States". In: *Remote Sensing* 12.9 (Apr. 2020), p. 1406.
 ISSN: 2072-4292. DOI: 10.3390/rs12091406. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2072-4292/12/9/1406.
- [10] de Rigo, D., Libertà, G., et al. Forest fire danger extremes in Europe under climate change: variability and uncertainty. Dec. 2017. ISBN: 978-92-79-77046-3. DOI: 10.2760/13180.
- [11] ESA Earth Observation Portal. Capella X-SAR. URL: https://directory.eoportal. org/web/eoportal/satellite-missions/content/-/article/capella-x-sar (visited on 06/21/2020).
- [12] EU Copernicus programme. The Early Warning Systems: EFAS and EFFIS. 2020. URL: https://emergency.copernicus.eu/mapping/ems/early-warning-systems-efasand-effis (visited on 06/22/2020).
- [13] EU Copernicus programme. Welcome to EFFIS. 2020. URL: https://effis.jrc.ec. europa.eu/ (visited on 06/19/2020).
- [14] European Commission. Burnt areas from forest fires halved in 2013. 2014. URL: https: //ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/news/2013-forest-fires-halved-in-the-EU (visited on 06/20/2020).
- [15] European Space Agency. Change of Copernicus Sentinel-1 ESVI. URL: https://sentinel. esa.int/web/sentinel/news/content/-/asset_publisher/BZewkR1itkH2/content/ change-of-copernicus-sentinel-1-esvi (visited on 06/21/2020).
- [16] European Space Agency. Measuring Wind. URL: https://www.esa.int/Applications/
 Observing_the_Earth/Aeolus/Measuring_wind (visited on 06/23/2020).
- [17] European Space Agency. Revisit and coverage. URL: https://sentinel.esa.int/ web/sentinel/user-guides/sentinel-1-sar/revisit-and-coverage (visited on 06/24/2020).

- [18] European Space Agency. Sentinel-1. URL: https://sentinel.esa.int/web/sentinel/ missions/sentinel-1 (visited on 06/20/2020).
- [19] Fang, L., Yang, J., et al. "Predicting Potential Fire Severity Using Vegetation, Topography and Surface Moisture Availability in a Eurasian Boreal Forest Landscapet". In: Forests 9.3 (2018). DOI: 10.3390/f9030130. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/1999-4907/9/3/130.
- [20] Hirschberger, P. Forests ablaze. Causes and effects of global forest fires. Ed. by Deutschland, WWF. Berlin, Germany, 2016.
- [21] Illera, P., Fernández, A., and Delgado, A. "Temporal evolution of the NDVI as an indicator of forest fire danger". In: *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 17.6 (1995), pp. 1093–1105. DOI: 10.1080/01431169608949072. URL: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/01431169608949072.
- [22] Minas, S. How Do Wildfires Affect Soil? 2019. URL: https://www.aessoil.com/how-dowildfires-affect-soil/ (visited on 06/23/2020).
- [23] San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., Durrant, T., et al. Forest fires in Europe, Middle East and North Africa 2017. Sept. 2018. ISBN: 978-92-79-92831-4. DOI: 10.2760/663443.
- [24] San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., Durrant, T., et al. Forest fires in Europe, Middle East and North Africa 2018. Oct. 2019. ISBN: 978-92-76-11234-1. DOI: 10.2760/1128.
- [25] San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., Schulte, E., et al. "Approaches to Managing Disaster Assessing Hazards, Emergencies and Disaster Impacts". In: 1st. Rijeka, Croatia: InTech, 2012. Chap. 5, pp. 87–108. ISBN: 978-953-51-0294-6.
- [26] United Nations Office for Outer Space Affairs. Space application of the month: Measuring soil moisture. URL: http://www.un-spider.org/links-and-resources/data-sources/ dsotm-soilmoisture (visited on 06/22/2020).
- [27] United States Environmental Protection Agency. Health Effects Attributed to Wildfire Smoke. 2019. URL: https://www.epa.gov/wildfire-smoke-course/health-effectsattributed-wildfire-smoke (visited on 06/19/2020).
- [28] Wallemacq, P. and House, R. Economic Losses, Poverty and Disasters: 1998-2017. Oct. 2018. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.35610.08643.